

UTAH SUPREME COURT ADVISORY COMMITTEE

ON RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE

Summary Minutes – January 27, 2020

**DUE TO THE COVID-19 PANDEMIC AND PUBLIC HEALTH EMERGENCY
THIS MEETING WAS CONDUCTED ELECTRONICALLY VIA WEBEX**

Committee members & staff	Present	Excused	Appeared by Phone
Jonathan Hafen, Chair	X		
Robert Adler	X		
Rod N. Andreason	X		
Judge James T. Blanch	X		
Lauren DiFrancesco	X		
Judge Kent Holmberg	X		
James Hunnicutt	X		
Larissa Lee		X	
Trevor Lee	X		
Judge Amber M. Mettler	X		
Brooke McKnight	X		
Ash McMurray		X	
Timothy Pack		X	
Bryan Pattison	X		
Michael Petrogeorge		X	
Judge Clay Stucki	X		
Judge Laura Scott	X		
Leslie W. Slaugh	X		
Trystan B. Smith	X		
Heather M. Sneddon		X	
Paul Stancil	X		
Judge Andrew H. Stone	X		
Justin T. Toth	X		
Susan Vogel	X		
Nancy Sylvester, Staff	X		
Kim Neville, Recording Secretary	X		
Nicole Salazar-Hall, guest	X		

Brent Salazar-Hall, guest	X		
Commissioner Joanna Sagers, guest	X		
Stewart Ralphs, guest	X		

(1) WELCOME AND APPROVAL OF MINUTES

Jonathan Hafen welcomed the committee and asked for approval of the minutes as amended by comments of the committee. Jim Hunnicutt moved to adopt the minutes as amended. Susan Vogel seconded the motion. The minutes were approved unanimously.

(2) EXPEDITED PROCEDURES SUBCOMMITTEE

Nancy Sylvester reported that the Supreme Court has asked the committee to prepare a proposed expedited procedures rule. Ms. Sylvester, Leslie Slauch, and Susan Vogel will form a working group for this issue.

(3) RULE 26

Rod Andreason introduced the proposed amendments to Rule 26 that were prepared by the working group in preparation to send the proposed rule out for public comment. Additional language was proposed with regard to pre-trial objections to trial exhibits and the circumstances under which parties are required to object. The working group proposed that the rule be clarified that objections must be made with 14 days unless the objection depends upon the “manner and context” in which the proposed exhibit would be used. Several committee members reiterated their earlier concerns that boilerplate or blanket pre-trial objections are currently used by litigants to avoid waiving objections, which does not assist the Court in resolving admissibility questions prior to trial. The proposed revision is intended to streamline objections, potentially eliminating the need to call document custodians to authenticate records or lay foundation for admission.

After discussion, the consensus of the committee was to express the concept in the affirmative, by stating that objections should be made if it is “apparent from the document” that the exhibit would be objectionable.

After a full discussion, Mr. Hafen called for the motion. Mr. Andreason moved to send the proposed amendments (**attached as Exhibit A**) out for public comment; Judge Stucki seconded. The motion passed unanimously.

(4) FAMILY LAW AMENDMENTS

Brent Salazar-Hall presented the proposed revisions to Rule 10, 12, 26, 26.1, 104, and 106, along with a proposed new Rule 100A with respect to family law matters. Mr. Hall explained that the prior proposed changes to Rule 3 were collapsed into Rule 10. Mr. Hall also noted that Rule 10, 12, 26.1, and 104 were amended to replace the term “defendant” with “other party” in the caption and pleadings, in order to reflect a less adversarial process in family matters.

Judge Holmberg recommended that Rule 104 be revised further to include an affirmation by the petitioning party that any relief sought conforms to any stipulation of the parties, in order to ensure that any findings of fact are consistent with the substantive decree. Susan Vogel commented that this occurs in pro se practice, and suggested that using an “approved as to form” representation on the final decree may be appropriate.

With respect to Rule 26, the working group has proposed a “Tier 4” category of cases for family and domestic matters, with shortened time frames for discovery. Mr. Hall commented that many family law matters can be resolved in much shorter time frames than those envisioned by the standard civil rules. Rule 26.1 was also revised to change the designations of the parties and to provide for initial disclosures within 14 days of the first answer. The working group is anticipating comment from family law practitioners on this particular revision, but expects overall support for moving cases faster.

Mr. Hall also reported on a proposed new rule, Rule 100A. The working group has condensed the prior proposed language to establish tracks for case management, consistent with the legislative audit. The working group has added a “good cause” statement to the standard track, along with a qualifying statement that a failure to mediate should not serve to delay trial. The working group also added a good cause component with respect to temporary orders. Mr. Hall indicated that the Family Law Section has provided feedback on the proposed revisions, and is generally supportive of case management for domestic cases, particularly in light of the legislature’s expressed interest in reform.

Mr. Hafen thanked the working group for their service on this issue and hard work in preparing an expedited package, and invited comments from other members of the working group. Commissioner Sagers expressed support for the amendments, which will assist the Court in case management and moving domestic cases efficiently through the judicial process. Stewart Ralphs also expressed support for the proposed amendments as a workable starting point for practitioners. Nicole Salazar-Hall also expressed support for the amendments, which are needed in order to respond to legislative concerns. Judge Holmberg also expressed support for the amendments, noting that average time to resolution has improved by 20 days in the third district case management pilot projects, even during the pandemic. Judge Holmberg also suggested that discovery limits and deadlines be addressed in the initial case management conference for efficiency.

Mr. Andreason recommended that the proposed amendment to Rule 12(b) be renumbered to be included within subsection 12(a) or another subsection, since Rule 12(b) motions are commonly used in civil practice. Mr. Andreason also proposed minor stylistic changes for consistency and clarity, which the working group unanimously supported.

Mr. Slaugh proposed revised language to Rule 10, to include petitions to establish custody and parent-time. Mr. Slaugh also proposed that the language of Rule 12 be revised to state that any counter-petition must be filed concurrent with the answer. Mr. Slaugh also suggested that the proposed exemption in Rule 26.1(e) be removed, or if retained, that the word “file” be changed to “serve.” Ms. Hall and Ms. Vogel indicated that these disclosures can be valuable in assessing attorneys’ fees or ability to pay in parentage cases and advocated for retention of the language. Mr. Slaugh also suggested that the role of the case manager be defined in in proposed Rule 100A to clarify the case manager’s responsibilities.

Judge Stucki suggested that Rule 26(c)(6), pertaining to extraordinary discovery, be revised to reference Rule 100A. The purpose of this change is to clarify that the judge has the ability to modify the discovery schedule at the outset of the case.

Ms. Vogel expressed support for the amendments as helpful to self-represented parties who are attempting to resolve their issues efficiently.

Mr. Hunnicutt expressed concern regarding the proposed changes to 26.1(e), pertaining to exemptions, as many practitioners disfavor mandatory disclosures at the outset of the case. After discussion, the language of 26.1(e) was revised further to clarify that the party need only disclose “any other assets and income relevant to the determination of a child support award” in cases where assets are not at issue.

After a full discussion, Mr. Hafen called for a motion. Judge Stone moved that the proposed amendments (**attached as Exhibit B**) be sent to the Supreme Court with a recommendation that they be sent out for public comment. Justin Toth seconded the motion. The motion passed unanimously.

(5) ONLINE DISPUTE RESOLUTION SUBCOMMITTEE

Ms. Sylvester reported that the Supreme Court has asked the committee to prepare proposed rules for online dispute resolution in small claims matters. Judge McCullagh, Judge Stucki, and Mr. Toth will form a working group for this issue.

(6) CONSENT ITEMS

Ms. Sylvester introduced a proposed amendment to Rule 65C, which was sent out for comment after receiving feedback from the Clerks of Court and Attorney General’s post-conviction office. The proposed amendments incorporate that feedback for creation of an appellate record.

After a full discussion, Mr. Hafen called for a motion. Judge Stucki moved that the proposed Rule 65C (**attached as Exhibit C**) be sent on to the Supreme Court with a recommendation for approval. Judge Stone seconded the motion. The motion passed unanimously.

(7) ADJOURNMENT

The meeting adjourned at 5:45 p.m.

Exhibit A

1 **Rule 26. General provisions governing disclosure and discovery.**

2 **(a) Disclosure.** This rule applies unless changed or supplemented by a rule governing
3 disclosure and discovery in a practice area.

4 **(1) Initial disclosures.** Except in cases exempt under paragraph (a)(3), a party shall,
5 without waiting for a discovery request, serve on the other parties:

6 (A) the name and, if known, the address and telephone number of:

7 (i) each individual likely to have discoverable information supporting its
8 claims or defenses, unless solely for impeachment, identifying the subjects of
9 the information; and

10 (ii) each fact witness the party may call in its case-in-chief and, except for an
11 adverse party, a summary of the expected testimony;

12 (B) a copy of all documents, data compilations, electronically stored information,
13 and tangible things in the possession or control of the party that the party may
14 offer in its case-in-chief, except charts, summaries, and demonstrative exhibits
15 that have not yet been prepared and must be disclosed in accordance with
16 paragraph (a)(5);

17 (C) a computation of any damages claimed and a copy of all discoverable
18 documents or evidentiary material on which such computation is based,
19 including materials about the nature and extent of injuries suffered;

20 (D) a copy of any agreement under which any person may be liable to satisfy
21 part or all of a judgment or to indemnify or reimburse for payments made to
22 satisfy the judgment; and

23 (E) a copy of all documents to which a party refers in its pleadings.

24 **(2) Timing of initial disclosures.** The disclosures required by paragraph (a)(1) shall
25 be served on the other parties:

26 (A) by ~~the~~ a plaintiff within 14 days after the filing of the first answer to ~~the~~ that
27 plaintiff's complaint; and

28 (B) by ~~the~~ a defendant within 42 days after the filing of ~~the~~ that defendant's first
29 answer to the complaint ~~or within 28 days after that defendant's appearance,~~
30 ~~whichever is later.~~

31 **(3) Exemptions.**

32 (A) Unless otherwise ordered by the court or agreed to by the parties, the
33 requirements of paragraph (a)(1) do not apply to actions:

34 (i) for judicial review of adjudicative proceedings or rule making proceedings
35 of an administrative agency;

36 (ii) governed by Rule [65B](#) or Rule [65C](#);

37 (iii) to enforce an arbitration award;

38 (iv) for water rights general adjudication under [Title 73, Chapter 4,](#)
39 Determination of Water Rights.

40 (B) In an exempt action, the matters subject to disclosure under paragraph (a)(1)
41 are subject to discovery under paragraph (b).

42 **(4) Expert testimony.**

43 **(A) Disclosure of retained expert testimony.** A party shall, without waiting for a
44 discovery request, serve on the other parties the following information regarding
45 any person who may be used at trial to present evidence under Rule [702](#) of the
46 Utah Rules of Evidence and who is retained or specially employed to provide
47 expert testimony in the case or whose duties as an employee of the party
48 regularly involve giving expert testimony: (i) the expert's name and
49 qualifications, including a list of all publications authored within the preceding
50 10 years, and a list of any other cases in which the expert has testified as an
51 expert at trial or by deposition within the preceding four years, (ii) a brief

52 | summary of the opinions to which the witness is expected to testify, (iii) ~~all the~~
53 | facts and data and other information specific to the case that will be relied upon
54 | by the witness in forming those opinions, and (iv) the compensation to be paid
55 | for the witness's study and testimony.

56 | **(B) Limits on expert discovery.** Further discovery may be obtained from an
57 | expert witness either by deposition or by written report. A deposition shall not
58 | exceed four hours and the party taking the deposition shall pay the expert's
59 | reasonable hourly fees for attendance at the deposition. A report shall be signed
60 | by the expert and shall contain a complete statement of all opinions the expert
61 | will offer at trial and the basis and reasons for them. Such an expert may not
62 | testify in a party's case-in-chief concerning any matter not fairly disclosed in the
63 | report. The party offering the expert shall pay the costs for the report.

64 | **(C) Timing for expert discovery.**

65 | (i) The party who bears the burden of proof on the issue for which expert
66 | testimony is offered shall serve on the other parties the information required
67 | by paragraph (a)(4)(A) within ~~seven~~14 days after the close of fact discovery.
68 | Within ~~seven~~14 days thereafter, the party opposing the expert may serve
69 | notice electing either a deposition of the expert pursuant to paragraph
70 | (a)(4)(B) and Rule [30](#), or a written report pursuant to paragraph (a)(4)(B). The
71 | deposition shall occur, or the report shall be served on the other parties,
72 | within ~~28~~42 days after the election is served on the other parties. If no
73 | election is served on the other parties, then no further discovery of the expert
74 | shall be permitted.

75 | (ii) The party who does not bear the burden of proof on the issue for which
76 | expert testimony is offered shall serve on the other parties the information
77 | required by paragraph (a)(4)(A) within 14 ~~seven~~ days after the later of (A) the
78 | date on which the ~~election~~disclosure under paragraph (a)(4)(C)(i) is due, or
79 | (B) ~~receipt~~service of the written report or the taking of the expert's deposition

80 | pursuant to paragraph (a)(4)(C)(i). Within ~~seven~~14 days thereafter, the party
81 | opposing the expert may serve notice electing either a deposition of the
82 | expert pursuant to paragraph (a)(4)(B) and Rule [30](#), or a written report
83 | pursuant to paragraph (a)(4)(B). The deposition shall occur, or the report shall
84 | be served on the other parties, within ~~28~~42 days after the election is served on
85 | the other parties. If no election is served on the other parties, then no further
86 | discovery of the expert shall be permitted.

87 | (iii) If the party who bears the burden of proof on an issue wants to designate
88 | rebuttal expert witnesses, it shall serve on the other parties the information
89 | required by paragraph (a)(4)(A) within 14 ~~seven~~ days after the later of (A) the
90 | date on which the election under paragraph (a)(4)(C)(ii) is due, or (B) ~~receipt~~
91 | service of the written report or the taking of the expert's deposition pursuant
92 | to paragraph (a)(4)(C)(ii). Within ~~seven~~14 days thereafter, the party opposing
93 | the expert may serve notice electing either a deposition of the expert pursuant
94 | to paragraph (a)(4)(B) and Rule [30](#), or a written report pursuant to paragraph
95 | (a)(4)(B). The deposition shall occur, or the report shall be served on the other
96 | parties, within ~~28~~42 days after the election is served on the other parties. If no
97 | election is served on the other parties, then no further discovery of the expert
98 | shall be permitted. An expert disclosed only as a rebuttal witness cannot be
99 | used in the case in chief.

100 | **(D) Multiparty actions.** In multiparty actions, all parties opposing the expert
101 | must agree on either a report or a deposition. If all parties opposing the expert do
102 | not agree, then further discovery of the expert may be obtained only by
103 | deposition pursuant to paragraph (a)(4)(B) and Rule [30](#).

104 | **(E) Summary of non-retained expert testimony.** If a party intends to present
105 | evidence at trial under Rule [702](#) of the Utah Rules of Evidence from any person
106 | other than an expert witness who is retained or specially employed to provide
107 | testimony in the case or a person whose duties as an employee of the party

108 regularly involve giving expert testimony, that party must serve on the other
109 parties a written summary of the facts and opinions to which the witness is
110 expected to testify in accordance with the deadlines set forth in paragraph
111 (a)(4)(C). Such a witness cannot be required to provide a report pursuant to
112 paragraph (a)(4)(B). A deposition of such a witness may not exceed four hours
113 and, unless manifest injustice would result, the party taking the deposition shall
114 pay the expert's reasonable hourly fees for attendance at the deposition.

115 **(5) Pretrial disclosures.**

116 (A) A party shall, without waiting for a discovery request, serve on the other
117 parties:

118 (i) the name and, if not previously provided, the address and telephone
119 number of each witness, unless solely for impeachment, separately
120 identifying witnesses the party will call and witnesses the party may call;

121 (ii) the name of witnesses whose testimony is expected to be presented by
122 transcript of a deposition and a copy of the transcript with the proposed
123 testimony designated; and

124 (iii) a copy of each exhibit, including charts, summaries, and demonstrative
125 exhibits, unless solely for impeachment, separately identifying those which
126 the party will offer and those which the party may offer.

127 (B) Disclosure required by paragraph (a)(5)(A) shall be served on the other
128 parties at least 28 days before trial. Disclosures required by paragraph (a)(5)(A)(i)
129 and (a)(5)(A)(ii) shall also be filed. At least 14 days before trial, a party shall
130 serve and file any counter designations of deposition testimony, and any
131 objections and grounds for the objections to the use of any deposition, witness,
132 and ~~or to the admissibility of exhibits~~ if the grounds for the objection are
133 apparent before trial. Other than objections under Rules [402](#) and [403](#) of the Utah

134 Rules of Evidence, other objections not listed are waived unless excused by the
135 court for good cause.

136 (6) Form of disclosure and discovery production. Rule 34 governs the form in
137 which all documents, data compilations, electronically stored information, tangible
138 things, and evidentiary material should be produced under this Rule.

139 **(b) Discovery scope.**

140 **(1) In general.** Parties may discover any matter, not privileged, which is relevant to
141 the claim or defense of any party if the discovery satisfies the standards of
142 proportionality set forth below. Privileged matters that are not discoverable or
143 admissible in any proceeding of any kind or character include all information in any
144 form provided during and created specifically as part of a request for an
145 investigation, the investigation, findings, or conclusions of peer review, care review,
146 or quality assurance processes of any organization of health care providers as
147 defined in the [Utah Health Care Malpractice Act](#) for the purpose of evaluating care
148 provided to reduce morbidity and mortality or to improve the quality of medical
149 care, or for the purpose of peer review of the ethics, competence, or professional
150 conduct of any health care provider.

151 **(2) Proportionality.** Discovery and discovery requests are proportional if:

152 (A) the discovery is reasonable, considering the needs of the case, the amount in
153 controversy, the complexity of the case, the parties' resources, the importance of
154 the issues, and the importance of the discovery in resolving the issues;

155 (B) the likely benefits of the proposed discovery outweigh the burden or expense;

156 (C) the discovery is consistent with the overall case management and will further
157 the just, speedy, and inexpensive determination of the case;

158 (D) the discovery is not unreasonably cumulative or duplicative;

159 (E) the information cannot be obtained from another source that is more
160 convenient, less burdensome, or less expensive; and

161 (F) the party seeking discovery has not had sufficient opportunity to obtain the
162 information by discovery or otherwise, taking into account the parties' relative
163 access to the information.

164 **(3) Burden.** The party seeking discovery always has the burden of showing
165 proportionality and relevance. To ensure proportionality, the court may enter orders
166 under Rule [37](#).

167 **(4) Electronically stored information.** A party claiming that electronically stored
168 information is not reasonably accessible because of undue burden or cost shall
169 describe the source of the electronically stored information, the nature and extent of
170 the burden, the nature of the information not provided, and any other information
171 that will enable other parties to evaluate the claim.

172 **(5) Trial preparation materials.** A party may obtain otherwise discoverable
173 documents and tangible things prepared in anticipation of litigation or for trial by or
174 for another party or by or for that other party's representative (including the party's
175 attorney, consultant, surety, indemnitor, insurer, or agent) only upon a showing that
176 the party seeking discovery has substantial need of the materials and that the party
177 is unable without undue hardship to obtain substantially equivalent materials by
178 other means. In ordering discovery of such materials, the court shall protect against
179 disclosure of the mental impressions, conclusions, opinions, or legal theories of an
180 attorney or other representative of a party.

181 **(6) Statement previously made about the action.** A party may obtain without the
182 showing required in paragraph (b)(5) a statement concerning the action or its subject
183 matter previously made by that party. Upon request, a person not a party may
184 obtain without the required showing a statement about the action or its subject
185 matter previously made by that person. If the request is refused, the person may

186 move for a court order under Rule [37](#). A statement previously made is (A) a written
187 statement signed or approved by the person making it, or (B) a stenographic,
188 mechanical, electronic, or other recording, or a transcription thereof, which is a
189 substantially verbatim recital of an oral statement by the person making it and
190 contemporaneously recorded.

191 **(7) Trial preparation; experts.**

192 **(A) Trial-preparation protection for draft reports or disclosures.** Paragraph
193 (b)(5) protects drafts of any report or disclosure required under paragraph (a)(4),
194 regardless of the form in which the draft is recorded.

195 **(B) Trial-preparation protection for communications between a party's**
196 **attorney and expert witnesses.** Paragraph (b)(5) protects communications
197 between the party's attorney and any witness required to provide disclosures
198 under paragraph (a)(4), regardless of the form of the communications, except to
199 the extent that the communications:

200 (i) relate to compensation for the expert's study or testimony;

201 (ii) identify facts or data that the party's attorney provided and that the expert
202 considered in forming the opinions to be expressed; or

203 (iii) identify assumptions that the party's attorney provided and that the
204 expert relied on in forming the opinions to be expressed.

205 **(C) Expert employed only for trial preparation.** Ordinarily, a party may not, by
206 interrogatories or otherwise, discover facts known or opinions held by an expert
207 who has been retained or specially employed by another party in anticipation of
208 litigation or to prepare for trial and who is not expected to be called as a witness
209 at trial. A party may do so only:

210 (i) as provided in Rule [35\(b\)](#); or

211 (ii) on showing exceptional circumstances under which it is impracticable for
212 the party to obtain facts or opinions on the same subject by other means.

213 **(8) Claims of privilege or protection of trial preparation materials.**

214 **(A) Information withheld.** If a party withholds discoverable information by
215 claiming that it is privileged or prepared in anticipation of litigation or for trial,
216 the party shall make the claim expressly and shall describe the nature of the
217 documents, communications, or things not produced in a manner that, without
218 revealing the information itself, will enable other parties to evaluate the claim.

219 **(B) Information produced.** If a party produces information that the party claims
220 is privileged or prepared in anticipation of litigation or for trial, the producing
221 party may notify any receiving party of the claim and the basis for it. After being
222 notified, a receiving party must promptly return, sequester, or destroy the
223 specified information and any copies it has and may not use or disclose the
224 information until the claim is resolved. A receiving party may promptly present
225 the information to the court under seal for a determination of the claim. If the
226 receiving party disclosed the information before being notified, it must take
227 reasonable steps to retrieve it. The producing party must preserve the
228 information until the claim is resolved.

229 | **(c) Methods, sequence, and timing of discovery; tiers; limits on standard discovery;
230 extraordinary discovery.**

231 **(1) Methods of discovery.** Parties may obtain discovery by one or more of the
232 following methods: depositions upon oral examination or written questions; written
233 interrogatories; production of documents or things or permission to enter upon land
234 or other property, for inspection and other purposes; physical and mental
235 examinations; requests for admission; and subpoenas other than for a court hearing
236 or trial.

237 **(2) Sequence and timing of discovery.** Methods of discovery may be used in any
 238 sequence, and the fact that a party is conducting discovery shall not delay any other
 239 party's discovery. Except for cases exempt under paragraph (a)(3), a party may not
 240 seek discovery from any source before that party's initial disclosure obligations are
 241 satisfied.

242 **(3) Definition of tiers for standard discovery.** Actions claiming \$50,000 or less in
 243 damages are permitted standard discovery as described for Tier 1. Actions claiming
 244 more than \$50,000 and less than \$300,000 in damages are permitted standard
 245 discovery as described for Tier 2. Actions claiming \$300,000 or more in damages are
 246 permitted standard discovery as described for Tier 3. Absent an accompanying
 247 damage claim for more than \$300,000, actions claiming non-monetary relief are
 248 permitted standard discovery as described for Tier 2. Domestic relations actions are
 249 permitted standard discovery as described for Tier 4.

250 **(4) Definition of damages.** For purposes of determining standard discovery, the
 251 amount of damages includes the total of all monetary damages sought (without
 252 duplication for alternative theories) by all parties in all claims for relief in the
 253 original pleadings.

254 **(5) Limits on standard fact discovery.** Standard fact discovery per side (plaintiffs
 255 collectively, defendants collectively, and third-party defendants collectively) in each
 256 tier is as follows. The days to complete standard fact discovery are calculated from
 257 the date the first defendant's first disclosure is due and do not include expert
 258 discovery under paragraphs (a)(4)(C) and (D).

Tier	Amount of Damages	Total Fact Deposition Hours	Rule 33 Interrogatories including all discrete subparts	Rule 34 Requests for Production	Rule 36 Requests for Admission	Days to Complete Standard Fact Discovery
1	\$50,000 or less	3	0	5	5	120

2	More than \$50,000 and less than \$300,000 or non-monetary relief	15	10	10	10	180
3	\$300,00 or more	30	20	20	20	210
<u>4</u>	<u>Domestic relations actions</u>	<u>4</u>	<u>10</u>	<u>10</u>	<u>10</u>	<u>90</u>

259

260 **(6) Extraordinary discovery.** To obtain discovery beyond the limits established in
 261 paragraph (c)(5), a party shall ~~file~~:

262 (A) before the close of standard discovery and after reaching the limits of
 263 standard discovery imposed by these rules, file a stipulated statement that
 264 extraordinary discovery is necessary and proportional under paragraph (b)(2)
 265 and, for each party represented by an attorney, a statement that the attorney that
 266 each party has reviewed and approved a discovery budget consulted with the
 267 client about the request for extraordinary discovery; ~~or~~

268 (B) before the close of standard discovery and after reaching the limits of
 269 standard discovery imposed by these rules, file a request for extraordinary
 270 discovery under Rule [37\(a\)](#); or

271 (C) obtain an expanded discovery schedule under Rule 100A.

272 **(d) Requirements for disclosure or response; disclosure or response by an**
 273 **organization; failure to disclose; initial and supplemental disclosures and responses.**

274 (1) A party shall make disclosures and responses to discovery based on the
 275 information then known or reasonably available to the party.

276 (2) If the party providing disclosure or responding to discovery is a corporation,
 277 partnership, association, or governmental agency, the party shall act through one or

278 more officers, directors, managing agents, or other persons, who shall make
279 disclosures and responses to discovery based on the information then known or
280 reasonably available to the party.

281 (3) A party is not excused from making disclosures or responses because the party
282 has not completed investigating the case, ~~or because~~ the party challenges the
283 sufficiency of another party's disclosures or responses, ~~or because~~ another party has
284 not made disclosures or responses.

285 (4) If a party fails to disclose or to supplement timely a disclosure or response to
286 discovery, that party may not use the undisclosed witness, document, or material at
287 any hearing or trial unless the failure is harmless or the party shows good cause for
288 the failure.

289 (5) If a party learns that a disclosure or response is incomplete or incorrect in some
290 important way, the party must timely serve on the other parties the additional or
291 correct information if it has not been made known to the other parties. The
292 supplemental disclosure or response must state why the additional or correct
293 information was not previously provided.

294 **(e) Signing discovery requests, responses, and objections.** Every disclosure, request
295 for discovery, response to a request for discovery, and objection to a request for
296 discovery shall be in writing and signed by at least one attorney of record or by the
297 party if the party is not represented. The signature of the attorney or party is a
298 certification under Rule [11](#). If a request or response is not signed, the receiving party
299 does not need to take any action with respect to it. If a certification is made in violation
300 of the rule, the court, upon motion or upon its own initiative, may take any action
301 authorized by Rule [11](#) or Rule [37\(b\)](#).

302 **(f) Filing.** Except as required by these rules or ordered by the court, a party shall not file
303 with the court a disclosure, a request for discovery, or a response to a request for

304 discovery, but shall file only the certificate of service stating that the disclosure, request
305 for discovery_z or response has been served on the other parties and the date of service.

306 **Advisory Committee Notes**

307 *Note Adopted 2011*

308 **Disclosure requirements and timing. Rule 26(a)(1).**

309 Not all information will be known at the outset of a case. If discovery is serving its
310 proper purpose, additional witnesses, documents, and other information will be
311 identified. The scope and the level of detail required in the initial Rule 26(a)(1)
312 disclosures should be viewed in light of this reality. A party is not required to interview
313 every witness it ultimately may call at trial in order to provide a summary of the
314 witness's expected testimony. As the information becomes known, it should be
315 disclosed. No summaries are required for adverse parties, including management level
316 employees of business entities, because opposing lawyers are unable to interview them
317 and their testimony is available to their own counsel. For uncooperative or hostile
318 witnesses any summary of expected testimony would necessarily be limited to the
319 subject areas the witness is reasonably expected to testify about. For example, defense
320 counsel may be unable to interview a treating physician, so the initial summary may
321 only disclose that the witness will be questioned concerning the plaintiff's diagnosis,
322 treatment and prognosis. After medical records have been obtained, the summary may
323 be expanded or refined.

324 Subject to the foregoing qualifications, the summary of the witness's expected testimony
325 should be just that- a summary. The rule does not require prefiled testimony or detailed
326 descriptions of everything a witness might say at trial. On the other hand, it requires
327 more than the broad, conclusory statements that often were made under the prior
328 version of Rule 26(a)(1)(e.g., "The witness will testify about the events in question" or
329 "The witness will testify on causation."). The intent of this requirement is to give the
330 other side basic information concerning the subjects about which the witness is
331 expected to testify at trial, so that the other side may determine the witness's relative

332 importance in the case, whether the witness should be interviewed or deposed, and
333 whether additional documents or information concerning the witness should be sought.
334 *See RJW Media Inc. v. Heath*, 2017 UT App 34, ¶¶ 23-25, 392 P.3d 956. This information is
335 important because of the other discovery limits contained in Rule 26.

336 Likewise, the documents that should be provided as part of the Rule 26(a)(1) disclosures
337 are those that a party reasonably believes it may use at trial, understanding that not all
338 documents will be available at the outset of a case. In this regard, it is important to
339 remember that the duty to provide documents and witness information is a continuing
340 one, and disclosures must be promptly supplemented as new evidence and witnesses
341 become known as the case progresses.

342 Early disclosure of damages information is important. Among other things, it is a
343 critical factor in determining proportionality. The committee recognizes that damages
344 often require additional discovery, and typically are the subject of expert testimony. The
345 Rule is not intended to require expert disclosures at the outset of a case. At the same
346 time, the subject of damages should not simply be deferred until expert discovery.
347 Parties should make a good faith attempt to compute damages to the extent it is
348 possible to do so and must in any event provide all discoverable information on the
349 subject, including materials related to the nature and extent of the damages.

350 The penalty for failing to make timely disclosures is that the evidence may not be used
351 in the party's case-in-chief. To make the disclosure requirement meaningful, and to
352 discourage sandbagging, parties must know that if they fail to disclose important
353 information that is helpful to their case, they will not be able to use that information at
354 trial. The courts will be expected to enforce them unless the failure is harmless or the
355 party shows good cause for the failure.

356 The purpose of early disclosure is to have all parties present the evidence they expect to
357 use to prove their claims or defenses, thereby giving the opposing party the ability to
358 better evaluate the case and determine what additional discovery is necessary and
359 proportional.

360 **Expert disclosures and timing. Rule 26(a)(3).** Disclosure of the identity and subjects of
361 expert opinions and testimony is automatic under Rule 26(a)(3) and parties are not
362 required to serve interrogatories or use other discovery devices to obtain this
363 information.

364 Experts frequently will prepare demonstrative exhibits or other aids to illustrate the
365 expert's testimony at trial, and the costs for preparing these materials can be substantial.
366 For that reason, these types of demonstrative aids may be prepared and disclosed later,
367 as part of the Rule 26(a)(4) pretrial disclosures when trial is imminent.

368 If a party elects a written report, the expert must provide a signed report containing a
369 complete statement of all opinions the expert will express and the basis and reasons for
370 them. The intent is not to require a verbatim transcript of exactly what the expert will
371 say at trial; instead the expert must fairly disclose the substance of and basis for each
372 opinion the expert will offer. The expert may not testify in a party's case in chief
373 concerning any matter that is not fairly disclosed in the report. To achieve the goal of
374 making reports a reliable substitute for depositions, courts are expected to enforce this
375 requirement. If a party elects a deposition, rather than a report, it is up to the party to
376 ask the necessary questions to "lock in" the expert's testimony. But the expert is
377 expected to be fully prepared on all aspects of his/her trial testimony at the time of the
378 deposition and may not leave the door open for additional testimony by qualifying
379 answers to deposition questions.

380 There are a number of difficulties inherent in disclosing expert testimony that may be
381 offered from fact witnesses. First, there is often not a clear line between fact and expert
382 testimony. Many fact witnesses have scientific, technical or other specialized
383 knowledge, and their testimony about the events in question often will cross into the
384 area of expert testimony. The rules are not intended to erect artificial barriers to the
385 admissibility of such testimony. Second, many of these fact witnesses will not be within
386 the control of the party who plans to call them at trial. These witnesses may not be
387 cooperative, and may not be willing to discuss opinions they have with counsel. Where

388 this is the case, disclosures will necessarily be more limited. On the other hand,
389 consistent with the overall purpose of the 2011 amendments, a party should receive
390 advance notice if their opponent will solicit expert opinions from a particular witness so
391 they can plan their case accordingly. In an effort to strike an appropriate balance, the
392 rules require that such witnesses be identified and the information about their
393 anticipated testimony should include that which is required under Rule 26(a)(1)(A)(ii),
394 which should include any opinion testimony that a party expects to elicit from them at
395 trial. If a party has disclosed possible opinion testimony in its Rule 26(a)(1)(A)(ii)
396 disclosures, that party is not required to prepare a separate Rule 26 (a)(4)(E) disclosure
397 for the witness. And if that disclosure is made in advance of the witness's deposition,
398 those opinions should be explored in the deposition and not in a separate expert
399 deposition. Otherwise, the timing for disclosure of non-retained expert opinions is the
400 same as that for retained experts under Rule 26(a)(4)(C) and depends on whether the
401 party has the burden of proof or is responding to another expert.

402 **Scope of discovery—Proportionality. Rule 26(b).** Proportionality is the principle
403 governing the scope of discovery. Simply stated, it means that the cost of discovery
404 should be proportional to what is at stake in the litigation.

405 In the past, the scope of discovery was governed by “relevance” or the “likelihood to
406 lead to discovery of admissible evidence.” These broad standards may have secured
407 just results by allowing a party to discover all facts relevant to the litigation. However,
408 they did little to advance two equally important objectives of the rules of civil
409 procedure—the speedy and inexpensive resolution of every action. Accordingly, the
410 former standards governing the scope of discovery have been replaced with the
411 proportionality standards in subpart (b)(1).

412 The concept of proportionality is not new. The prior rule permitted the Court to limit
413 discovery methods if it determined that “the discovery was unduly burdensome or
414 expensive, taking into account the needs of the case, the amount in controversy,
415 limitations on the parties’ resources, and the importance of the issues at stake in the

416 litigation.” The Federal Rules of Civil Procedure contains a similar provision. See Fed.
417 R. Civ. P. 26(b)(2) (C).

418 Any system of rules which permits the facts and circumstances of each case to inform
419 procedure cannot eliminate uncertainty. Ultimately, the trial court has broad discretion
420 in deciding whether a discovery request is proportional. The proportionality standards
421 in subpart (b)(2) and the discovery tiers in subpart (c) mitigate uncertainty by guiding
422 that discretion. The proper application of the proportionality standards will be defined
423 over time by trial and appellate courts.

424 **Standard and extraordinary discovery. Rule 26(c).** As a counterpart to requiring more
425 detailed disclosures under Rule 26(a), the 2011 amendments place new limitations on
426 additional discovery the parties may conduct. Because the committee expects the
427 enhanced disclosure requirements will automatically permit each party to learn the
428 witnesses and evidence the opposing side will offer in its case-in-chief, additional
429 discovery should serve the more limited function of permitting parties to find
430 witnesses, documents, and other evidentiary materials that are harmful, rather than
431 helpful, to the opponent’s case.

432 Parties are expected to be reasonable and accomplish as much as they can during
433 standard discovery. A statement of discovery issues may result in additional discovery
434 and sanctions at the expense of a party who unreasonably fails to respond or otherwise
435 frustrates discovery. After the expiration of the applicable time limitation, a case is
436 presumed to be ready for trial. Actions for nonmonetary relief, such as injunctive relief,
437 are subject to the standard discovery limitations of Tier 2, absent an accompanying
438 monetary claim of \$300,000 or more, in which case Tier 3 applies.

439 **Consequences of failure to disclose.** Rule 26(d). If a party fails to disclose or to
440 supplement timely its discovery responses, that party cannot use the undisclosed
441 witness, document, or material at any hearing or trial, absent proof that non-disclosure
442 was harmless or justified by good cause. More complete disclosures increase the
443 likelihood that the case will be resolved justly, speedily, and inexpensively. Not being

444 able to use evidence that a party fails properly to disclose provides a powerful incentive
445 to make complete disclosures. This is true only if trial courts hold parties to this
446 standard. Accordingly, although a trial court retains discretion to determine how
447 properly to address this issue in a given case, the usual and expected result should be
448 exclusion of the evidence.

449 **Legislative Note**

450 *Note adopted 2012*

451 [S.J.R. 15](#)

452 (1) The amended language in paragraph (b)(1) is intended to incorporate long-standing
453 protections against discovery and admission into evidence of privileged matters
454 connected to medical care review and peer review into the Utah Rules of Civil
455 Procedure. These privileges, found in both Utah common law and statute, include
456 Sections 26-25-3, 58-13-4, and 58-13-5, UCA, 1953. The language is intended to ensure
457 the confidentiality of peer review, care review, and quality assurance processes and to
458 ensure that the privilege is limited only to documents and information created
459 specifically as part of the processes. It does not extend to knowledge gained or
460 documents created outside or independent of the processes. The language is not
461 intended to limit the court's existing ability, if it chooses, to review contested documents
462 in camera in order to determine whether the documents fall within the privilege. The
463 language is not intended to alter any existing law, rule, or regulation relating to the
464 confidentiality, admissibility, or disclosure of proceedings before the Utah Division of
465 Occupational and Professional Licensing. The Legislature intends that these privileges
466 apply to all pending and future proceedings governed by court rules, including
467 administrative proceedings regarding licensing and reimbursement.

468 (2) The Legislature does not intend that the amendments to this rule be construed to
469 change or alter a final order concerning discovery matters entered on or before the
470 effective date of this amendment.

471

472 (3) The Legislature intends to give the greatest effect to its amendment, as legally
473 permissible, in matters that are pending on or may arise after the effective date of this
474 amendment, without regard to when the case was filed.

475 Effective date. Upon approval by a constitutional two-thirds vote of all members elected
476 to each house. [March 6, 2012]

Exhibit B

Rule 10. Form of pleadings and other papers.**1 (a) Caption; names of parties; other necessary information.**

2 | **(1) General caption requirements.** All pleadings and other papers filed with the
3 | court must contain a caption setting forth the name of the court, the title of the
4 | action, the file number, if known, the name of the pleading or other paper, and the
5 | name, if known, of the judge (and commissioner if applicable) to whom the case is
6 | assigned. A party filing a claim for relief, whether by original claim, counterclaim,
7 | cross-claim or third-party claim, must include in the caption the discovery tier for
8 | the case as determined under Rule 26.

9 | (2) Names of the parties.

10 | **(A) Actions other than domestic relations.** In the complaint, the title of the
11 | action must include the names of all the parties, but other pleadings and papers
12 | need only state the name of the first party on each side with an indication that
13 | there are other parties. A party whose name is not known must be designated by
14 | any name and the words "whose true name is unknown." In an action in rem,
15 | unknown parties must be designated as "all unknown persons who claim any
16 | interest in the subject matter of the action."

17 | **(B) Domestic relations actions.** Domestic relations actions, as defined in Rule
18 | 26.1, must be captioned as follows:

19 (i) In petitions for divorce, annulment, separate maintenance, and temporary
20 separation: “In the matter of the marriage of [Party A and Party B].”

21 (ii) In petitions to establish parentage: “In the matter of the parentage of
22 [Child(ren)’s Initials], a child.”

23 (iii) In petitions to otherwise establish custody and parent-time: “In the
24 matter of [Child(ren)’s Initials], a child.”

25 (3) **Contact information.** Every pleading and other paper filed with the court must
26 state in the top left hand corner of the first page the name, address, email address,
27 telephone number and bar number of the attorney or party filing the paper, and, if
28 filed by an attorney, the party for whom it is filed.

29 (4) **Cover sheet.** A party filing a claim for relief, whether by original claim,
30 counterclaim, cross-claim or third-party claim, must also file a completed cover
31 sheet substantially similar in form and content to the cover sheet approved by the
32 Judicial Council. The clerk may destroy the coversheet after recording the
33 information it contains.

34 **(b) Paragraphs; separate statements.** All statements of claim or defense must be made
35 in numbered paragraphs. Each paragraph must be limited as far as practicable to a
36 single set of circumstances; and a paragraph may be adopted by reference in all
37 succeeding pleadings. Each claim founded upon a separate transaction or occurrence
38 and each defense other than denials must be stated in a separate count or defense
39 whenever a separation facilitates the clear presentation of the matters set forth.

40 **(c) Adoption by reference; exhibits.** Statements in a paper may be adopted by reference
41 in a different part of the same or another paper. An exhibit to a paper is a part thereof
42 for all purposes.

43 **(d) Paper format.** All pleadings and other papers, other than exhibits and court-
44 approved forms, must be 8½ inches wide x 11 inches long, on white background, with a
45 top margin of not less than 1½ inches and a right, left and bottom margin of not less
46 than 1 inch . All text or images must be clearly legible, must be double spaced, except
47 for matters customarily single spaced, must be on one side only and must not be
48 smaller than 12-point size.

49 **(e) Signature line.** The name of the person signing must be typed or printed under that
50 person's signature. If a proposed document ready for signature by a court official is
51 electronically filed, the order must not include the official's signature line and must, at
52 the end of the document, indicate that the signature appears at the top of the first page.

53 **(f) Non-conforming papers.** The clerk of the court may examine the pleadings and
54 other papers filed with the court. If they are not prepared in conformity with
55 paragraphs (a) - (e), the clerk must accept the filing but may require counsel to
56 substitute properly prepared papers for nonconforming papers. The clerk or the court
57 may waive the requirements of this rule for parties appearing pro se. For good cause
58 shown, the court may relieve any party of any requirement of this rule.

59 **(g) Replacing lost pleadings or papers.** If an original pleading or paper filed in any
60 action or proceeding is lost, the court may, upon motion, with or without notice,
61 authorize a copy thereof to be filed and used in lieu of the original.

62 **(h) No improper content.** The court may strike and disregard all or any part of a
63 pleading or other paper that contains redundant, immaterial, impertinent or scandalous
64 matter.

65 **(i) Electronic papers.**

66 (1) Any reference in these rules to a writing, recording or image includes the
67 electronic version thereof.

68 (2) A paper electronically signed and filed is the original.

69 (3) An electronic copy of a paper, recording or image may be filed as though it were
70 the original. Proof of the original, if necessary, is governed by the Utah Rules of
71 Evidence.

72 (4) An electronic copy of a paper must conform to the format of the original.

73 (5) An electronically filed paper may contain links to other papers filed
74 simultaneously or already on file with the court and to electronically published
75 authority.

Rule 12. Defenses and objections.**(a) When presented.**

(1) In actions other than domestic relations. Unless otherwise provided by statute or order of the court, a defendant shall serve an answer within 21 days after the service of the summons and complaint is complete within the state and within 30 days after service of the summons and complaint is complete outside the state. A party served with a pleading stating a cross-claim shall serve an answer thereto within 21 days after the service. The plaintiff shall serve a reply to a counterclaim in the answer within 21 days after service of the answer or, if a reply is ordered by the court, within 21 days after service of the order, unless the order otherwise directs. The service of a motion under this rule alters these periods of time as follows, unless a different time is fixed by order of the court, but a motion directed to fewer than all of the claims in a pleading does not affect the time for responding to the remaining claims:

(1A) If the court denies the motion or postpones its disposition until the trial on the merits, the responsive pleading shall be served within 14 days after notice of the court's action;

(2B) If the court grants a motion for a more definite statement, the responsive pleading shall be served within 14 days after the service of the more definite statement.

(2) In domestic relations actions. A party served with a domestic relations action shall serve an answer within 21 days after service of the summons and petition is complete within the state and within 30 days after service of the summons and petition is complete outside the state. Any counterpetition must be filed with the answer. A party served with a counterpetition shall serve an answer within 21 days after service of the counterpetition.

26 **(b) How presented.** Every defense, in law or fact, to claim for relief in any pleading,
27 whether a claim, counterclaim, cross-claim, or third-party claim, shall be asserted in the
28 responsive pleading thereto if one is required, except that the following defenses may at
29 the option of the pleader be made by motion: (1) lack of jurisdiction over the subject
30 matter, (2) lack of jurisdiction over the person, (3) improper venue, (4) insufficiency of
31 process, (5) insufficiency of service of process, (6) failure to state a claim upon which
32 relief can be granted, (7) failure to join an indispensable party. A motion making any of
33 these defenses shall be made before pleading if a further pleading is permitted. No
34 defense or objection is waived by being joined with one or more other defenses or
35 objections in a responsive pleading or motion or by further pleading after the denial of
36 such motion or objection. If a pleading sets forth a claim for relief to which the adverse
37 party is not required to serve a responsive pleading, the adverse party may assert at the
38 trial any defense in law or fact to that claim for relief. If, on a motion asserting the
39 defense numbered (6) to dismiss for failure of the pleading to state a claim upon which
40 relief can be granted, matters outside the pleading are presented to and not excluded by
41 the court, the motion shall be treated as one for summary judgment and disposed of as
42 provided in Rule [56](#), and all parties shall be given reasonable opportunity to present all
43 material made pertinent to such a motion by Rule [56](#).

44 **(c) Motion for judgment on the pleadings.** After the pleadings are closed, but within
45 such time as not to delay the trial, any party may move for judgment on the pleadings.
46 If, on a motion for judgment on the pleadings, matters outside the pleadings are
47 presented to and not excluded by the court, the motion shall be treated as one for
48 summary judgment and disposed of as provided in Rule [56](#), and all parties shall be
49 given reasonable opportunity to present all material made pertinent to such a motion
50 by Rule [56](#).

51 **(d) Preliminary hearings.** The defenses specifically enumerated (1) - (7) in subdivision
52 (b) of this rule, whether made in a pleading or by motion, and the motion for judgment
53 mentioned in subdivision (c) of this rule shall be heard and determined before trial on

54 application of any party, unless the court orders that the hearings and determination
55 thereof be deferred until the trial.

56 **(e) Motion for more definite statement.** If a pleading to which a responsive pleading is
57 permitted is so vague or ambiguous that a party cannot reasonably be required to frame
58 a responsive pleading, the party may move for a more definite statement before
59 interposing a responsive pleading. The motion shall point out the defects complained of
60 and the details desired. If the motion is granted and the order of the court is not obeyed
61 within 14 days after notice of the order or within such other time as the court may fix,
62 the court may strike the pleading to which the motion was directed or make such order
63 as it deems just.

64 **(f) Motion to strike.** Upon motion made by a party before responding to a pleading or,
65 if no responsive pleading is permitted by these rules, upon motion made by a party
66 within 21 days after the service of the pleading, the court may order stricken from any
67 pleading any insufficient defense or any redundant, immaterial, impertinent, or
68 scandalous matter.

69 **(g) Consolidation of defenses.** A party who makes a motion under this rule may join
70 with it the other motions herein provided for and then available. If a party makes a
71 motion under this rule and does not include therein all defenses and objections then
72 available which this rule permits to be raised by motion, the party shall not thereafter
73 make a motion based on any of the defenses or objections so omitted, except as
74 provided in subdivision (h) of this rule.

75 **(h) Waiver of defenses.** A party waives all defenses and objections not presented either
76 by motion or by answer or reply, except (1) that the defense of failure to state a claim
77 upon which relief can be granted, the defense of failure to join an indispensable party,
78 and the objection of failure to state a legal defense to a claim may also be made by a
79 later pleading, if one is permitted, or by motion for judgment on the pleadings or at the
80 trial on the merits, and except (2) that, whenever it appears by suggestion of the parties
81 or otherwise that the court lacks jurisdiction of the subject matter, the court shall

82 dismiss the action. The objection or defense, if made at the trial, shall be disposed of as
83 provided in Rule 15(b) in the light of any evidence that may have been received.

84 **(i) Pleading after denial of a motion.** The filing of a responsive pleading after the
85 denial of any motion made pursuant to these rules shall not be deemed a waiver of such
86 motion.

87 **(j) Security for costs of a nonresident plaintiff.** When the plaintiff in an action resides
88 out of this state, or is a foreign corporation, the defendant may file a motion to require
89 the plaintiff to furnish security for costs and charges which may be awarded against
90 such plaintiff. Upon hearing and determination by the court of the reasonable necessity
91 therefor, the court shall order the plaintiff to file a \$300.00 undertaking with sufficient
92 sureties as security for payment of such costs and charges as may be awarded against
93 such plaintiff. No security shall be required of any officer, instrumentality, or agency of
94 the United States.

95 **(k) Effect of failure to file undertaking.** If the plaintiff fails to file the undertaking as
96 ordered within 30 days of the service of the order, the court shall, upon motion of the
97 defendant, enter an order dismissing the action.

1 **Rule 26. General provisions governing disclosure and discovery.**

2 **(a) Disclosure.** This rule applies unless changed or supplemented by a rule governing
3 disclosure and discovery in a practice area.

4 **(1) Initial disclosures.** Except in cases exempt under paragraph (a)(3), a party shall,
5 without waiting for a discovery request, serve on the other parties:

6 (A) the name and, if known, the address and telephone number of:

7 (i) each individual likely to have discoverable information supporting its
8 claims or defenses, unless solely for impeachment, identifying the subjects of
9 the information; and

10 (ii) each fact witness the party may call in its case-in-chief and, except for an
11 adverse party, a summary of the expected testimony;

12 (B) a copy of all documents, data compilations, electronically stored information,
13 and tangible things in the possession or control of the party that the party may
14 offer in its case-in-chief, except charts, summaries, and demonstrative exhibits
15 that have not yet been prepared and must be disclosed in accordance with
16 paragraph (a)(5);

17 (C) a computation of any damages claimed and a copy of all discoverable
18 documents or evidentiary material on which such computation is based,
19 including materials about the nature and extent of injuries suffered;

20 (D) a copy of any agreement under which any person may be liable to satisfy
21 part or all of a judgment or to indemnify or reimburse for payments made to
22 satisfy the judgment; and

23 (E) a copy of all documents to which a party refers in its pleadings.

24 **(2) Timing of initial disclosures.** The disclosures required by paragraph (a)(1) shall
25 be served on the other parties:

26 (A) by ~~the~~ a plaintiff within 14 days after the filing of the first answer to ~~the~~ that
27 plaintiff's complaint; and

28 (B) by ~~the~~ a defendant within 42 days after the filing of ~~the~~ that defendant's first
29 answer to the complaint ~~or within 28 days after that defendant's appearance,~~
30 ~~whichever is later.~~

31 **(3) Exemptions.**

32 (A) Unless otherwise ordered by the court or agreed to by the parties, the
33 requirements of paragraph (a)(1) do not apply to actions:

34 (i) for judicial review of adjudicative proceedings or rule making proceedings
35 of an administrative agency;

36 (ii) governed by Rule [65B](#) or Rule [65C](#);

37 (iii) to enforce an arbitration award;

38 (iv) for water rights general adjudication under [Title 73, Chapter 4,](#)
39 Determination of Water Rights.

40 (B) In an exempt action, the matters subject to disclosure under paragraph (a)(1)
41 are subject to discovery under paragraph (b).

42 **(4) Expert testimony.**

43 **(A) Disclosure of retained expert testimony.** A party shall, without waiting for a
44 discovery request, serve on the other parties the following information regarding
45 any person who may be used at trial to present evidence under Rule [702](#) of the
46 Utah Rules of Evidence and who is retained or specially employed to provide
47 expert testimony in the case or whose duties as an employee of the party
48 regularly involve giving expert testimony: (i) the expert's name and
49 qualifications, including a list of all publications authored within the preceding
50 10 years, and a list of any other cases in which the expert has testified as an
51 expert at trial or by deposition within the preceding four years, (ii) a brief

52 | summary of the opinions to which the witness is expected to testify, (iii) ~~all the~~
53 | facts and data and other information specific to the case that will be relied upon
54 | by the witness in forming those opinions, and (iv) the compensation to be paid
55 | for the witness's study and testimony.

56 | **(B) Limits on expert discovery.** Further discovery may be obtained from an
57 | expert witness either by deposition or by written report. A deposition shall not
58 | exceed four hours and the party taking the deposition shall pay the expert's
59 | reasonable hourly fees for attendance at the deposition. A report shall be signed
60 | by the expert and shall contain a complete statement of all opinions the expert
61 | will offer at trial and the basis and reasons for them. Such an expert may not
62 | testify in a party's case-in-chief concerning any matter not fairly disclosed in the
63 | report. The party offering the expert shall pay the costs for the report.

64 | **(C) Timing for expert discovery.**

65 | (i) The party who bears the burden of proof on the issue for which expert
66 | testimony is offered shall serve on the other parties the information required
67 | by paragraph (a)(4)(A) within ~~seven~~14 days after the close of fact discovery.
68 | Within ~~seven~~14 days thereafter, the party opposing the expert may serve
69 | notice electing either a deposition of the expert pursuant to paragraph
70 | (a)(4)(B) and Rule [30](#), or a written report pursuant to paragraph (a)(4)(B). The
71 | deposition shall occur, or the report shall be served on the other parties,
72 | within ~~28~~42 days after the election is served on the other parties. If no
73 | election is served on the other parties, then no further discovery of the expert
74 | shall be permitted.

75 | (ii) The party who does not bear the burden of proof on the issue for which
76 | expert testimony is offered shall serve on the other parties the information
77 | required by paragraph (a)(4)(A) within 14 ~~seven~~ days after the later of (A) the
78 | date on which the ~~election~~disclosure under paragraph (a)(4)(C)(i) is due, or
79 | (B) ~~receipt~~service of the written report or the taking of the expert's deposition

80 | pursuant to paragraph (a)(4)(C)(i). Within ~~seven~~14 days thereafter, the party
81 | opposing the expert may serve notice electing either a deposition of the
82 | expert pursuant to paragraph (a)(4)(B) and Rule [30](#), or a written report
83 | pursuant to paragraph (a)(4)(B). The deposition shall occur, or the report shall
84 | be served on the other parties, within ~~28~~42 days after the election is served on
85 | the other parties. If no election is served on the other parties, then no further
86 | discovery of the expert shall be permitted.

87 | (iii) If the party who bears the burden of proof on an issue wants to designate
88 | rebuttal expert witnesses, it shall serve on the other parties the information
89 | required by paragraph (a)(4)(A) within 14 ~~seven~~ days after the later of (A) the
90 | date on which the election under paragraph (a)(4)(C)(ii) is due, or (B) ~~receipt~~
91 | service of the written report or the taking of the expert's deposition pursuant
92 | to paragraph (a)(4)(C)(ii). Within ~~seven~~14 days thereafter, the party opposing
93 | the expert may serve notice electing either a deposition of the expert pursuant
94 | to paragraph (a)(4)(B) and Rule [30](#), or a written report pursuant to paragraph
95 | (a)(4)(B). The deposition shall occur, or the report shall be served on the other
96 | parties, within ~~28~~42 days after the election is served on the other parties. If no
97 | election is served on the other parties, then no further discovery of the expert
98 | shall be permitted. An expert disclosed only as a rebuttal witness cannot be
99 | used in the case in chief.

100 | **(D) Multiparty actions.** In multiparty actions, all parties opposing the expert
101 | must agree on either a report or a deposition. If all parties opposing the expert do
102 | not agree, then further discovery of the expert may be obtained only by
103 | deposition pursuant to paragraph (a)(4)(B) and Rule [30](#).

104 | **(E) Summary of non-retained expert testimony.** If a party intends to present
105 | evidence at trial under Rule [702](#) of the Utah Rules of Evidence from any person
106 | other than an expert witness who is retained or specially employed to provide
107 | testimony in the case or a person whose duties as an employee of the party

108 regularly involve giving expert testimony, that party must serve on the other
109 parties a written summary of the facts and opinions to which the witness is
110 expected to testify in accordance with the deadlines set forth in paragraph
111 (a)(4)(C). Such a witness cannot be required to provide a report pursuant to
112 paragraph (a)(4)(B). A deposition of such a witness may not exceed four hours
113 and, unless manifest injustice would result, the party taking the deposition shall
114 pay the expert's reasonable hourly fees for attendance at the deposition.

115 **(5) Pretrial disclosures.**

116 (A) A party shall, without waiting for a discovery request, serve on the other
117 parties:

118 (i) the name and, if not previously provided, the address and telephone
119 number of each witness, unless solely for impeachment, separately
120 identifying witnesses the party will call and witnesses the party may call;

121 (ii) the name of witnesses whose testimony is expected to be presented by
122 transcript of a deposition and a copy of the transcript with the proposed
123 testimony designated; and

124 (iii) a copy of each exhibit, including charts, summaries, and demonstrative
125 exhibits, unless solely for impeachment, separately identifying those which
126 the party will offer and those which the party may offer.

127 (B) Disclosure required by paragraph (a)(5)(A) shall be served on the other
128 parties at least 28 days before trial. Disclosures required by paragraph (a)(5)(A)(i)
129 and (a)(5)(A)(ii) shall also be filed. At least 14 days before trial, a party shall
130 serve and file any counter designations of deposition testimony, and any
131 objections and grounds for the objections to the use of any deposition, witness,
132 and ~~or to the admissibility of exhibits~~ if the grounds for the objection are
133 apparent before trial. Other than objections under Rules [402](#) and [403](#) of the Utah

134 Rules of Evidence, other objections not listed are waived unless excused by the
135 court for good cause.

136 **(6) Form of disclosure and discovery production.** Rule 34 governs the form in
137 which all documents, data compilations, electronically stored information, tangible
138 things, and evidentiary material should be produced under this Rule.

139 **(b) Discovery scope.**

140 **(1) In general.** Parties may discover any matter, not privileged, which is relevant to
141 the claim or defense of any party if the discovery satisfies the standards of
142 proportionality set forth below. Privileged matters that are not discoverable or
143 admissible in any proceeding of any kind or character include all information in any
144 form provided during and created specifically as part of a request for an
145 investigation, the investigation, findings, or conclusions of peer review, care review,
146 or quality assurance processes of any organization of health care providers as
147 defined in the [Utah Health Care Malpractice Act](#) for the purpose of evaluating care
148 provided to reduce morbidity and mortality or to improve the quality of medical
149 care, or for the purpose of peer review of the ethics, competence, or professional
150 conduct of any health care provider.

151 **(2) Proportionality.** Discovery and discovery requests are proportional if:

152 (A) the discovery is reasonable, considering the needs of the case, the amount in
153 controversy, the complexity of the case, the parties' resources, the importance of
154 the issues, and the importance of the discovery in resolving the issues;

155 (B) the likely benefits of the proposed discovery outweigh the burden or expense;

156 (C) the discovery is consistent with the overall case management and will further
157 the just, speedy, and inexpensive determination of the case;

158 (D) the discovery is not unreasonably cumulative or duplicative;

159 (E) the information cannot be obtained from another source that is more
160 convenient, less burdensome, or less expensive; and

161 (F) the party seeking discovery has not had sufficient opportunity to obtain the
162 information by discovery or otherwise, taking into account the parties' relative
163 access to the information.

164 **(3) Burden.** The party seeking discovery always has the burden of showing
165 proportionality and relevance. To ensure proportionality, the court may enter orders
166 under Rule [37](#).

167 **(4) Electronically stored information.** A party claiming that electronically stored
168 information is not reasonably accessible because of undue burden or cost shall
169 describe the source of the electronically stored information, the nature and extent of
170 the burden, the nature of the information not provided, and any other information
171 that will enable other parties to evaluate the claim.

172 **(5) Trial preparation materials.** A party may obtain otherwise discoverable
173 documents and tangible things prepared in anticipation of litigation or for trial by or
174 for another party or by or for that other party's representative (including the party's
175 attorney, consultant, surety, indemnitor, insurer, or agent) only upon a showing that
176 the party seeking discovery has substantial need of the materials and that the party
177 is unable without undue hardship to obtain substantially equivalent materials by
178 other means. In ordering discovery of such materials, the court shall protect against
179 disclosure of the mental impressions, conclusions, opinions, or legal theories of an
180 attorney or other representative of a party.

181 **(6) Statement previously made about the action.** A party may obtain without the
182 showing required in paragraph (b)(5) a statement concerning the action or its subject
183 matter previously made by that party. Upon request, a person not a party may
184 obtain without the required showing a statement about the action or its subject
185 matter previously made by that person. If the request is refused, the person may

186 move for a court order under Rule [37](#). A statement previously made is (A) a written
187 statement signed or approved by the person making it, or (B) a stenographic,
188 mechanical, electronic, or other recording, or a transcription thereof, which is a
189 substantially verbatim recital of an oral statement by the person making it and
190 contemporaneously recorded.

191 **(7) Trial preparation; experts.**

192 **(A) Trial-preparation protection for draft reports or disclosures.** Paragraph
193 (b)(5) protects drafts of any report or disclosure required under paragraph (a)(4),
194 regardless of the form in which the draft is recorded.

195 **(B) Trial-preparation protection for communications between a party's**
196 **attorney and expert witnesses.** Paragraph (b)(5) protects communications
197 between the party's attorney and any witness required to provide disclosures
198 under paragraph (a)(4), regardless of the form of the communications, except to
199 the extent that the communications:

200 (i) relate to compensation for the expert's study or testimony;

201 (ii) identify facts or data that the party's attorney provided and that the expert
202 considered in forming the opinions to be expressed; or

203 (iii) identify assumptions that the party's attorney provided and that the
204 expert relied on in forming the opinions to be expressed.

205 **(C) Expert employed only for trial preparation.** Ordinarily, a party may not, by
206 interrogatories or otherwise, discover facts known or opinions held by an expert
207 who has been retained or specially employed by another party in anticipation of
208 litigation or to prepare for trial and who is not expected to be called as a witness
209 at trial. A party may do so only:

210 (i) as provided in Rule [35\(b\)](#); or

211 (ii) on showing exceptional circumstances under which it is impracticable for
212 the party to obtain facts or opinions on the same subject by other means.

213 **(8) Claims of privilege or protection of trial preparation materials.**

214 **(A) Information withheld.** If a party withholds discoverable information by
215 claiming that it is privileged or prepared in anticipation of litigation or for trial,
216 the party shall make the claim expressly and shall describe the nature of the
217 documents, communications, or things not produced in a manner that, without
218 revealing the information itself, will enable other parties to evaluate the claim.

219 **(B) Information produced.** If a party produces information that the party claims
220 is privileged or prepared in anticipation of litigation or for trial, the producing
221 party may notify any receiving party of the claim and the basis for it. After being
222 notified, a receiving party must promptly return, sequester, or destroy the
223 specified information and any copies it has and may not use or disclose the
224 information until the claim is resolved. A receiving party may promptly present
225 the information to the court under seal for a determination of the claim. If the
226 receiving party disclosed the information before being notified, it must take
227 reasonable steps to retrieve it. The producing party must preserve the
228 information until the claim is resolved.

229 | **(c) Methods, sequence, and timing of discovery; tiers; limits on standard discovery;
230 extraordinary discovery.**

231 **(1) Methods of discovery.** Parties may obtain discovery by one or more of the
232 following methods: depositions upon oral examination or written questions; written
233 interrogatories; production of documents or things or permission to enter upon land
234 or other property, for inspection and other purposes; physical and mental
235 examinations; requests for admission; and subpoenas other than for a court hearing
236 or trial.

237 **(2) Sequence and timing of discovery.** Methods of discovery may be used in any
 238 sequence, and the fact that a party is conducting discovery shall not delay any other
 239 party's discovery. Except for cases exempt under paragraph (a)(3), a party may not
 240 seek discovery from any source before that party's initial disclosure obligations are
 241 satisfied.

242 **(3) Definition of tiers for standard discovery.** Actions claiming \$50,000 or less in
 243 damages are permitted standard discovery as described for Tier 1. Actions claiming
 244 more than \$50,000 and less than \$300,000 in damages are permitted standard
 245 discovery as described for Tier 2. Actions claiming \$300,000 or more in damages are
 246 permitted standard discovery as described for Tier 3. Absent an accompanying
 247 damage claim for more than \$300,000, actions claiming non-monetary relief are
 248 permitted standard discovery as described for Tier 2. Domestic relations actions are
 249 permitted standard discovery as described for Tier 4.

250 **(4) Definition of damages.** For purposes of determining standard discovery, the
 251 amount of damages includes the total of all monetary damages sought (without
 252 duplication for alternative theories) by all parties in all claims for relief in the
 253 original pleadings.

254 **(5) Limits on standard fact discovery.** Standard fact discovery per side (plaintiffs
 255 collectively, defendants collectively, and third-party defendants collectively) in each
 256 tier is as follows. The days to complete standard fact discovery are calculated from
 257 the date the first defendant's first disclosure is due and do not include expert
 258 discovery under paragraphs (a)(4)(C) and (D).

Tier	Amount of Damages	Total Fact Deposition Hours	Rule 33 Interrogatories including all discrete subparts	Rule 34 Requests for Production	Rule 36 Requests for Admission	Days to Complete Standard Fact Discovery
1	\$50,000 or less	3	0	5	5	120

2	More than \$50,000 and less than \$300,000 or non-monetary relief	15	10	10	10	180
3	\$300,00 or more	30	20	20	20	210
<u>4</u>	<u>Domestic relations actions</u>	<u>4</u>	<u>10</u>	<u>10</u>	<u>10</u>	<u>90</u>

259

260 **(6) Extraordinary discovery.** To obtain discovery beyond the limits established in
 261 paragraph (c)(5), a party shall ~~file~~:

262 (A) before the close of standard discovery and after reaching the limits of
 263 standard discovery imposed by these rules, file a stipulated statement that
 264 extraordinary discovery is necessary and proportional under paragraph (b)(2)
 265 and, for each party represented by an attorney, a statement that the attorney that
 266 each party has reviewed and approved a discovery budget consulted with the
 267 client about the request for extraordinary discovery; or

268 (B) before the close of standard discovery and after reaching the limits of
 269 standard discovery imposed by these rules, file a request for extraordinary
 270 discovery under Rule [37\(a\)](#); or

271 (C) obtain an expanded discovery schedule under Rule 100A.

272 **(d) Requirements for disclosure or response; disclosure or response by an**
 273 **organization; failure to disclose; initial and supplemental disclosures and responses.**

274 (1) A party shall make disclosures and responses to discovery based on the
 275 information then known or reasonably available to the party.

276 (2) If the party providing disclosure or responding to discovery is a corporation,
 277 partnership, association, or governmental agency, the party shall act through one or

278 more officers, directors, managing agents, or other persons, who shall make
279 disclosures and responses to discovery based on the information then known or
280 reasonably available to the party.

281 (3) A party is not excused from making disclosures or responses because the party
282 has not completed investigating the case, ~~or because~~ the party challenges the
283 sufficiency of another party's disclosures or responses, ~~or because~~ another party has
284 not made disclosures or responses.

285 (4) If a party fails to disclose or to supplement timely a disclosure or response to
286 discovery, that party may not use the undisclosed witness, document, or material at
287 any hearing or trial unless the failure is harmless or the party shows good cause for
288 the failure.

289 (5) If a party learns that a disclosure or response is incomplete or incorrect in some
290 important way, the party must timely serve on the other parties the additional or
291 correct information if it has not been made known to the other parties. The
292 supplemental disclosure or response must state why the additional or correct
293 information was not previously provided.

294 **(e) Signing discovery requests, responses, and objections.** Every disclosure, request
295 for discovery, response to a request for discovery, and objection to a request for
296 discovery shall be in writing and signed by at least one attorney of record or by the
297 party if the party is not represented. The signature of the attorney or party is a
298 certification under Rule [11](#). If a request or response is not signed, the receiving party
299 does not need to take any action with respect to it. If a certification is made in violation
300 of the rule, the court, upon motion or upon its own initiative, may take any action
301 authorized by Rule [11](#) or Rule [37\(b\)](#).

302 **(f) Filing.** Except as required by these rules or ordered by the court, a party shall not file
303 with the court a disclosure, a request for discovery, or a response to a request for

304 discovery, but shall file only the certificate of service stating that the disclosure, request
305 for discovery_z or response has been served on the other parties and the date of service.

306 **Advisory Committee Notes**

307 *Note Adopted 2011*

308 **Disclosure requirements and timing. Rule 26(a)(1).**

309 Not all information will be known at the outset of a case. If discovery is serving its
310 proper purpose, additional witnesses, documents, and other information will be
311 identified. The scope and the level of detail required in the initial Rule 26(a)(1)
312 disclosures should be viewed in light of this reality. A party is not required to interview
313 every witness it ultimately may call at trial in order to provide a summary of the
314 witness's expected testimony. As the information becomes known, it should be
315 disclosed. No summaries are required for adverse parties, including management level
316 employees of business entities, because opposing lawyers are unable to interview them
317 and their testimony is available to their own counsel. For uncooperative or hostile
318 witnesses any summary of expected testimony would necessarily be limited to the
319 subject areas the witness is reasonably expected to testify about. For example, defense
320 counsel may be unable to interview a treating physician, so the initial summary may
321 only disclose that the witness will be questioned concerning the plaintiff's diagnosis,
322 treatment and prognosis. After medical records have been obtained, the summary may
323 be expanded or refined.

324 Subject to the foregoing qualifications, the summary of the witness's expected testimony
325 should be just that- a summary. The rule does not require prefiled testimony or detailed
326 descriptions of everything a witness might say at trial. On the other hand, it requires
327 more than the broad, conclusory statements that often were made under the prior
328 version of Rule 26(a)(1)(e.g., "The witness will testify about the events in question" or
329 "The witness will testify on causation."). The intent of this requirement is to give the
330 other side basic information concerning the subjects about which the witness is
331 expected to testify at trial, so that the other side may determine the witness's relative

332 importance in the case, whether the witness should be interviewed or deposed, and
333 whether additional documents or information concerning the witness should be sought.
334 *See RJW Media Inc. v. Heath*, 2017 UT App 34, ¶¶ 23-25, 392 P.3d 956. This information is
335 important because of the other discovery limits contained in Rule 26.

336 Likewise, the documents that should be provided as part of the Rule 26(a)(1) disclosures
337 are those that a party reasonably believes it may use at trial, understanding that not all
338 documents will be available at the outset of a case. In this regard, it is important to
339 remember that the duty to provide documents and witness information is a continuing
340 one, and disclosures must be promptly supplemented as new evidence and witnesses
341 become known as the case progresses.

342 Early disclosure of damages information is important. Among other things, it is a
343 critical factor in determining proportionality. The committee recognizes that damages
344 often require additional discovery, and typically are the subject of expert testimony. The
345 Rule is not intended to require expert disclosures at the outset of a case. At the same
346 time, the subject of damages should not simply be deferred until expert discovery.
347 Parties should make a good faith attempt to compute damages to the extent it is
348 possible to do so and must in any event provide all discoverable information on the
349 subject, including materials related to the nature and extent of the damages.

350 The penalty for failing to make timely disclosures is that the evidence may not be used
351 in the party's case-in-chief. To make the disclosure requirement meaningful, and to
352 discourage sandbagging, parties must know that if they fail to disclose important
353 information that is helpful to their case, they will not be able to use that information at
354 trial. The courts will be expected to enforce them unless the failure is harmless or the
355 party shows good cause for the failure.

356 The purpose of early disclosure is to have all parties present the evidence they expect to
357 use to prove their claims or defenses, thereby giving the opposing party the ability to
358 better evaluate the case and determine what additional discovery is necessary and
359 proportional.

360 **Expert disclosures and timing. Rule 26(a)(3).** Disclosure of the identity and subjects of
361 expert opinions and testimony is automatic under Rule 26(a)(3) and parties are not
362 required to serve interrogatories or use other discovery devices to obtain this
363 information.

364 Experts frequently will prepare demonstrative exhibits or other aids to illustrate the
365 expert's testimony at trial, and the costs for preparing these materials can be substantial.
366 For that reason, these types of demonstrative aids may be prepared and disclosed later,
367 as part of the Rule 26(a)(4) pretrial disclosures when trial is imminent.

368 If a party elects a written report, the expert must provide a signed report containing a
369 complete statement of all opinions the expert will express and the basis and reasons for
370 them. The intent is not to require a verbatim transcript of exactly what the expert will
371 say at trial; instead the expert must fairly disclose the substance of and basis for each
372 opinion the expert will offer. The expert may not testify in a party's case in chief
373 concerning any matter that is not fairly disclosed in the report. To achieve the goal of
374 making reports a reliable substitute for depositions, courts are expected to enforce this
375 requirement. If a party elects a deposition, rather than a report, it is up to the party to
376 ask the necessary questions to "lock in" the expert's testimony. But the expert is
377 expected to be fully prepared on all aspects of his/her trial testimony at the time of the
378 deposition and may not leave the door open for additional testimony by qualifying
379 answers to deposition questions.

380 There are a number of difficulties inherent in disclosing expert testimony that may be
381 offered from fact witnesses. First, there is often not a clear line between fact and expert
382 testimony. Many fact witnesses have scientific, technical or other specialized
383 knowledge, and their testimony about the events in question often will cross into the
384 area of expert testimony. The rules are not intended to erect artificial barriers to the
385 admissibility of such testimony. Second, many of these fact witnesses will not be within
386 the control of the party who plans to call them at trial. These witnesses may not be
387 cooperative, and may not be willing to discuss opinions they have with counsel. Where

388 this is the case, disclosures will necessarily be more limited. On the other hand,
389 consistent with the overall purpose of the 2011 amendments, a party should receive
390 advance notice if their opponent will solicit expert opinions from a particular witness so
391 they can plan their case accordingly. In an effort to strike an appropriate balance, the
392 rules require that such witnesses be identified and the information about their
393 anticipated testimony should include that which is required under Rule 26(a)(1)(A)(ii),
394 which should include any opinion testimony that a party expects to elicit from them at
395 trial. If a party has disclosed possible opinion testimony in its Rule 26(a)(1)(A)(ii)
396 disclosures, that party is not required to prepare a separate Rule 26 (a)(4)(E) disclosure
397 for the witness. And if that disclosure is made in advance of the witness's deposition,
398 those opinions should be explored in the deposition and not in a separate expert
399 deposition. Otherwise, the timing for disclosure of non-retained expert opinions is the
400 same as that for retained experts under Rule 26(a)(4)(C) and depends on whether the
401 party has the burden of proof or is responding to another expert.

402 **Scope of discovery—Proportionality. Rule 26(b).** Proportionality is the principle
403 governing the scope of discovery. Simply stated, it means that the cost of discovery
404 should be proportional to what is at stake in the litigation.

405 In the past, the scope of discovery was governed by “relevance” or the “likelihood to
406 lead to discovery of admissible evidence.” These broad standards may have secured
407 just results by allowing a party to discover all facts relevant to the litigation. However,
408 they did little to advance two equally important objectives of the rules of civil
409 procedure—the speedy and inexpensive resolution of every action. Accordingly, the
410 former standards governing the scope of discovery have been replaced with the
411 proportionality standards in subpart (b)(1).

412 The concept of proportionality is not new. The prior rule permitted the Court to limit
413 discovery methods if it determined that “the discovery was unduly burdensome or
414 expensive, taking into account the needs of the case, the amount in controversy,
415 limitations on the parties’ resources, and the importance of the issues at stake in the

416 litigation.” The Federal Rules of Civil Procedure contains a similar provision. See Fed.
417 R. Civ. P. 26(b)(2) (C).

418 Any system of rules which permits the facts and circumstances of each case to inform
419 procedure cannot eliminate uncertainty. Ultimately, the trial court has broad discretion
420 in deciding whether a discovery request is proportional. The proportionality standards
421 in subpart (b)(2) and the discovery tiers in subpart (c) mitigate uncertainty by guiding
422 that discretion. The proper application of the proportionality standards will be defined
423 over time by trial and appellate courts.

424 **Standard and extraordinary discovery. Rule 26(c).** As a counterpart to requiring more
425 detailed disclosures under Rule 26(a), the 2011 amendments place new limitations on
426 additional discovery the parties may conduct. Because the committee expects the
427 enhanced disclosure requirements will automatically permit each party to learn the
428 witnesses and evidence the opposing side will offer in its case-in-chief, additional
429 discovery should serve the more limited function of permitting parties to find
430 witnesses, documents, and other evidentiary materials that are harmful, rather than
431 helpful, to the opponent’s case.

432 Parties are expected to be reasonable and accomplish as much as they can during
433 standard discovery. A statement of discovery issues may result in additional discovery
434 and sanctions at the expense of a party who unreasonably fails to respond or otherwise
435 frustrates discovery. After the expiration of the applicable time limitation, a case is
436 presumed to be ready for trial. Actions for nonmonetary relief, such as injunctive relief,
437 are subject to the standard discovery limitations of Tier 2, absent an accompanying
438 monetary claim of \$300,000 or more, in which case Tier 3 applies.

439 **Consequences of failure to disclose.** Rule 26(d). If a party fails to disclose or to
440 supplement timely its discovery responses, that party cannot use the undisclosed
441 witness, document, or material at any hearing or trial, absent proof that non-disclosure
442 was harmless or justified by good cause. More complete disclosures increase the
443 likelihood that the case will be resolved justly, speedily, and inexpensively. Not being

444 able to use evidence that a party fails properly to disclose provides a powerful incentive
445 to make complete disclosures. This is true only if trial courts hold parties to this
446 standard. Accordingly, although a trial court retains discretion to determine how
447 properly to address this issue in a given case, the usual and expected result should be
448 exclusion of the evidence.

449 **Legislative Note**

450 *Note adopted 2012*

451 [S.J.R. 15](#)

452 (1) The amended language in paragraph (b)(1) is intended to incorporate long-standing
453 protections against discovery and admission into evidence of privileged matters
454 connected to medical care review and peer review into the Utah Rules of Civil
455 Procedure. These privileges, found in both Utah common law and statute, include
456 Sections 26-25-3, 58-13-4, and 58-13-5, UCA, 1953. The language is intended to ensure
457 the confidentiality of peer review, care review, and quality assurance processes and to
458 ensure that the privilege is limited only to documents and information created
459 specifically as part of the processes. It does not extend to knowledge gained or
460 documents created outside or independent of the processes. The language is not
461 intended to limit the court's existing ability, if it chooses, to review contested documents
462 in camera in order to determine whether the documents fall within the privilege. The
463 language is not intended to alter any existing law, rule, or regulation relating to the
464 confidentiality, admissibility, or disclosure of proceedings before the Utah Division of
465 Occupational and Professional Licensing. The Legislature intends that these privileges
466 apply to all pending and future proceedings governed by court rules, including
467 administrative proceedings regarding licensing and reimbursement.

468 (2) The Legislature does not intend that the amendments to this rule be construed to
469 change or alter a final order concerning discovery matters entered on or before the
470 effective date of this amendment.

471

472 (3) The Legislature intends to give the greatest effect to its amendment, as legally
473 permissible, in matters that are pending on or may arise after the effective date of this
474 amendment, without regard to when the case was filed.

475 Effective date. Upon approval by a constitutional two-thirds vote of all members elected
476 to each house. [March 6, 2012]

Rule 26.1. Disclosure and discovery in domestic relations actions.

1 **(a) Scope.** This rule applies to the following domestic relations actions: divorce;
2 temporary separation; separate maintenance; parentage; custody; child support; and
3 modification. This rule does not apply to adoptions, enforcement of prior orders,
4 cohabitant abuse protective orders, child protective orders, civil stalking injunctions, or
5 grandparent visitation.

6 **(b) Time for disclosure.** In addition to the ~~disclosures~~ Initial Disclosures required
7 in Rule 26, in all domestic relations actions, the documents required in this rule must be
8 served on the other parties within 14 days after filing of the first answer to the
9 complaint.:

10 ~~(b)(1) by the plaintiff within 14 days after filing of the first answer to the complaint;~~
11 ~~and~~

12 ~~(b)(2) by the defendant within 42 days after filing of the first answer to the complaint~~
13 ~~or within 28 days after that defendant's appearance, whichever is later.~~

14 **(c) Financial declaration.** Each party must ~~disclose to all~~ serve on all other parties a fully
15 completed ~~court-approved~~ Financial Declaration, using the court-approved form, and
16 attachments. Each party must attach to the Financial Declaration the following:

17 (1) For every item and amount listed in the Financial Declaration, excluding monthly
18 expenses, copies of statements verifying the amounts listed on the Financial
19 Declaration that are reasonably available to the party.

20 (2) For the two tax years before the petition was filed, complete federal and state
21 income tax returns, including Form W-2 and supporting tax schedules and
22 attachments, filed by or on behalf of that party or by or on behalf of any entity in
23 which the party has a majority or controlling interest, including, but not limited to,
24 Form 1099 and Form K-1 with respect to that party.

25 (3) Pay stubs and other evidence of all earned and un-earned income for the 12
26 months before the petition was filed.

27 (4) All loan applications and financial statements prepared or used by the party
28 within the 12 months before the petition was filed.

29 (5) Documents verifying the value of all real estate in which the party has an
30 interest, including, but not limited to, the most recent appraisal, tax valuation and
31 refinance documents.

32 (6) All statements for the 3 months before the petition was filed for all financial
33 accounts, including, but not limited to checking, savings, money market funds,
34 certificates of deposit, brokerage, investment, retirement, regardless of whether the
35 account has been closed including those held in that party's name, jointly with
36 another person or entity, or as a trustee or guardian, or in someone else's name on
37 that party's behalf.

38 (7) If the foregoing documents are not reasonably available or are in the possession
39 of the other party, the party disclosing the Financial Declaration must estimate the
40 amounts entered on the Financial Declaration, the basis for the estimation and an
41 explanation why the documents are not available.

42 **(d) Certificate of service.** Each party must file a Certificate of Service with the court
43 certifying that he or she has provided the Financial Declaration and attachments to the
44 other party.

45 **(e) ~~Exempted agencies.~~ Exemptions.**

46 (1) Agencies of the State of Utah are not subject to these disclosure requirements.

47 (2) In cases where assets are not at issue, such as paternity, modification, and
48 grandparents' rights, a party must only serve:

49 (A) the party's last three current paystubs and the previous year tax return;

50 (B) six months of bank and profit and loss statements if the party is self-
51 employed; and

52 | (C) proof of any other assets or income relevant to the determination of a child
53 | support award.

54 | The court may require the parties to complete a full Financial Declaration for
55 | purposes of determining an attorney fee award or for any other reason. Any party
56 | may by motion or through the discovery process also request completion of a full
57 | Financial Declaration.

58 | **(f) Sanctions.** Failure to fully disclose all assets and income in the Financial Declaration
59 | and attachments may subject the non-disclosing party to sanctions
60 | under Rule [37](#) including an award of non-disclosed assets to the other party, attorney's
61 | fees or other sanctions deemed appropriate by the court.

62 | **(g) Failure to comply.** Failure of a party to comply with this rule does not preclude any
63 | other party from obtaining a default judgment, proceeding with the case, or seeking
64 | other relief from the court.

65 | **(h) Notice of requirements.** Notice of the requirements of this rule must be served on
66 | the ~~Respondent~~other party and all joined parties with the initial petition.

Rule 104. Divorce decree upon affidavit.

1 A party in a divorce case may apply for entry of a decree without a hearing in cases in
2 | which the ~~opposing~~other party fails to make a timely appearance after service of process
3 or other appropriate notice, waives notice, stipulates to the withdrawal of the answer, or
4 stipulates to the entry of the decree or entry of default. An affidavit in support of the
5 decree shall accompany the application. The affidavit shall contain evidence sufficient to
6 support necessary findings of fact and a final judgment.

Rule 106. Modification of final domestic relations order.

1 **(a) Commencement; service; answer.** Except as provided in Utah Code Section 30-3-
2 37, proceedings to modify a divorce decree or other final domestic relations order shall
3 be commenced by filing a petition to modify. Service of the petition, or motion under
4 Section 30-3-37, and summons upon the ~~opposing~~other party shall be in accordance with
5 Rule 4. The responding party shall serve the answer within the time permitted by Rule
6 12.

7 **(b) Temporary orders.**

8 (1) The judgment, order or decree sought to be modified remains in effect during the
9 pendency of the petition. The court may make the modification retroactive to the date
10 on which the petition was served. During the pendency of a petition to modify, the
11 court:

12 (A) may order a temporary modification of child support as part of a temporary
13 modification of custody or parent-time; and

14 (B) may order a temporary modification of custody or parent-time to address an
15 immediate and irreparable harm or to ratify changes made by the parties, provided
16 that the modification serves the best interests of the child.

17 (2) Nothing in this rule limits the court's authority to enter temporary orders under
18 Utah Code Section 30-3-3.

Exhibit C

1 **Rule 65C. Post-conviction relief.**

2 **(a) Scope.** This rule governs proceedings in all petitions for post-conviction relief filed
3 under the Post-Conviction Remedies Act, Utah Code [Title 78B, Chapter 9](#). The Act sets
4 forth the manner and extent to which a person may challenge the legality of a criminal
5 conviction and sentence after the conviction and sentence have been affirmed in a direct
6 appeal under [Article I, Section 12](#) of the Utah Constitution, or the time to file such an
7 appeal has expired.

8 **(b) Procedural defenses and merits review.** Except as provided in paragraph (h), if the
9 court comments on the merits of a post-conviction claim, it shall first clearly and
10 expressly determine whether that claim is independently precluded under Section [78B-](#)
11 [9-106](#).

12 **(c) Commencement and venue.** The proceeding shall be commenced by filing a petition
13 with the clerk of the district court in the county in which the judgment of conviction
14 was entered. The petition should be filed on forms provided by the court. The court
15 may order a change of venue on its own motion if the petition is filed in the wrong
16 county. The court may order a change of venue on motion of a party for the
17 convenience of the parties or witnesses.

18 **(d) Contents of the petition.** The petition shall set forth all claims that the petitioner has
19 in relation to the legality of the conviction or sentence. The petition shall state:

20 (1) whether the petitioner is incarcerated and, if so, the place of incarceration;

21 (2) the name of the court in which the petitioner was convicted and sentenced and
22 the dates of proceedings in which the conviction was entered, together with the
23 court's case number for those proceedings, if known by the petitioner;

24 (3) in plain and concise terms, all of the facts that form the basis of the petitioner's
25 claim to relief;

26 (4) whether the judgment of conviction, the sentence, or the commitment for
27 violation of probation has been reviewed on appeal, and, if so, the number and title

28 of the appellate proceeding, the issues raised on appeal, and the results of the
29 appeal;

30 (5) whether the legality of the conviction or sentence has been adjudicated in any
31 prior post-conviction or other civil proceeding, and, if so, the case number and title
32 of those proceedings, the issues raised in the petition, and the results of the prior
33 proceeding; and

34 (6) if the petitioner claims entitlement to relief due to newly discovered evidence, the
35 reasons why the evidence could not have been discovered in time for the claim to be
36 addressed in the trial, the appeal, or any previous post-conviction petition.

37 **(e) Attachments to the petition.** If available to the petitioner, the petitioner shall attach
38 to the petition:

39 (1) affidavits, copies of records and other evidence in support of the allegations;

40 (2) a copy of or a citation to any opinion issued by an appellate court regarding the
41 direct appeal of the petitioner's case;

42 (3) a copy of the pleadings filed by the petitioner in any prior post-conviction or
43 other civil proceeding that adjudicated the legality of the conviction or sentence; and

44 (4) a copy of all relevant orders and memoranda of the court.

45 **(f) Memorandum of authorities.** The petitioner shall not set forth argument or citations
46 or discuss authorities in the petition, but these may be set out in a separate
47 memorandum, two copies of which shall be filed with the petition.

48 **(g) Assignment.** On the filing of the petition, the clerk shall promptly assign and deliver
49 it to the judge who sentenced the petitioner. If the judge who sentenced the petitioner is
50 not available, the clerk shall assign the case in the normal course.

51 **(h) Summary dismissal of claims.**

52 (1) The assigned judge shall review the petition, and, if it is apparent to the court
53 that any claim has been adjudicated in a prior proceeding, or if any claim in the

54 petition appears frivolous on its face, the court shall forthwith issue an order
55 dismissing the claim, stating either that the claim has been adjudicated or that the
56 claim is frivolous on its face. The order shall be sent by mail to the petitioner.

57 Proceedings on the claim shall terminate with the entry of the order of dismissal.
58 The order of dismissal need not recite findings of fact or conclusions of law.

59 (2) A claim is frivolous on its face when, based solely on the allegations contained in
60 the pleadings and attachments, it appears that:

61 (A) the facts alleged do not support a claim for relief as a matter of law;

62 (B) the claim has no arguable basis in fact; or

63 (C) the claim challenges the sentence only and the sentence has expired prior to
64 the filing of the petition.

65 (3) If a claim is not frivolous on its face but is deficient due to a pleading error or
66 failure to comply with the requirements of this rule, the court shall return a copy of
67 the petition with leave to amend within 21 days. The court may grant one additional
68 21-day period to amend for good cause shown.

69 (4) The court shall not review for summary dismissal the initial post-conviction
70 petition in a case where the petitioner is sentenced to death.

71 **(i) Service of petitions.** If, on review of the petition, the court concludes that all or part
72 of the petition should not be summarily dismissed, the court shall designate the
73 portions of the petition that are not dismissed and direct the clerk to serve upon the
74 respondent a copy of the petition, attachments, ~~and~~ memorandum, and an electronic
75 court record of the underlying criminal case being challenged, including all non-public
76 documents, ~~by mail upon the respondent.~~ If an electronic appellate record of the
77 underlying case has not already been created, the clerk will create the record.

78 (1) If the petition is a challenge to a felony conviction or sentence, the respondent is
79 the state of Utah represented by the Attorney General. Service on the Attorney
80 General shall be by mail at the following address:

81 Utah Attorney General's Office

82 Criminal Appeals

83 Post-Conviction Section

84 160 East 300 South, 6th Floor

85 P.O. Box 140854

86 Salt Lake City, UT 84114-0854

87 (2) In all other cases, the respondent is the governmental entity that prosecuted the
88 petitioner.

89 **(j) Appointment of pro bono counsel.** If any portion of the petition is not summarily
90 dismissed, the court may, upon the request of an indigent petitioner, appoint counsel
91 on a pro bono basis to represent the petitioner in the post-conviction court or on post-
92 conviction appeal. In determining whether to appoint counsel the court shall consider
93 whether the petition or the appeal contains factual allegations that will require an
94 evidentiary hearing and whether the petition involves complicated issues of law or fact
95 that require the assistance of counsel for proper adjudication.

96 **(k) Answer or other response.** Within 30 days after service of a copy of the petition
97 upon the respondent, or within such other period of time as the court may allow, the
98 respondent shall answer or otherwise respond to the portions of the petition that have
99 not been dismissed and shall serve the answer or other response upon the petitioner in
100 accordance with Rule 5(b). Within 30 days (plus time allowed for service by mail) after
101 service of any motion to dismiss or for summary judgment, the petitioner may respond
102 by memorandum to the motion. No further pleadings or amendments will be permitted
103 unless ordered by the court.

104 **(l) Hearings.** After pleadings are closed, the court shall promptly set the proceeding for
105 a hearing or otherwise dispose of the case. The court may also order a prehearing

106 conference, but the conference shall not be set so as to delay unreasonably the hearing
107 on the merits of the petition. At the prehearing conference, the court may:

108 (1) consider the formation and simplification of issues;

109 (2) require the parties to identify witnesses and documents; and

110 (3) require the parties to establish the admissibility of evidence expected to be
111 presented at the evidentiary hearing.

112 **(m) Presence of the petitioner at hearings.** The petitioner shall be present at the
113 prehearing conference if the petitioner is not represented by counsel. The prehearing
114 conference may be conducted by means of telephone or video conferencing. The
115 petitioner shall be present before the court at hearings on dispositive issues but need
116 not otherwise be present in court during the proceeding. The court may conduct any
117 hearing at the correctional facility where the petitioner is confined.

118 **(n) Discovery; records.**

119 (1) Discovery under Rules 26 through 37 shall be allowed by the court upon motion
120 of a party and a determination that there is good cause to believe that discovery is
121 necessary to provide a party with evidence that is likely to be admissible at an
122 evidentiary hearing.

123 (2) The court may order either the petitioner or the respondent to obtain any
124 relevant transcript or court records.

125 (3) All records in the criminal case under review, including the records in an appeal
126 of that conviction, are deemed part of the trial court record in the petition for post-
127 conviction relief. A record from the criminal case retains the security classification
128 that it had in the criminal case.

129 **(o) Orders; stay.**

130 (1) If the court vacates the original conviction or sentence, it shall enter findings of
131 fact and conclusions of law and an appropriate order. If the petitioner is serving a

132 sentence for a felony conviction, the order shall be stayed for 7 days. Within the stay
133 period, the respondent shall give written notice to the court and the petitioner that
134 the respondent will pursue a new trial, pursue a new sentence, appeal the order, or
135 take no action. Thereafter the stay of the order is governed by these rules and by
136 the Rules of Appellate Procedure.

137 (2) If the respondent fails to provide notice or gives notice that no action will be
138 taken, the stay shall expire and the court shall deliver forthwith to the custodian of
139 the petitioner the order to release the petitioner.

140 (3) If the respondent gives notice that the petitioner will be retried or resentenced,
141 the trial court may enter any supplementary orders as to arraignment, trial,
142 sentencing, custody, bail, discharge, or other matters that may be necessary and
143 proper.

144 **(p) Costs.** The court may assign the costs of the proceeding, as allowed under
145 Rule 54(d), to any party as it deems appropriate. If the petitioner is indigent, the court
146 may direct the costs to be paid by the governmental entity that prosecuted the
147 petitioner. If the petitioner is in the custody of the Department of Corrections, Utah
148 Code Title 78A, Chapter 2, Part 3 governs the manner and procedure by which the trial
149 court shall determine the amount, if any, to charge for fees and costs.

150 **(q) Appeal.** Any final judgment or order entered upon the petition may be appealed to
151 and reviewed by the Court of Appeals or the Supreme Court of Utah in accord with the
152 statutes governing appeals to those courts.

153